SMITHVILLE PLANNING COMMISSION

REGULAR SESSION April 12, 2022 7:00 P.M.

City Hall Council Chambers and Via Videoconference

1. CALL TO ORDER

Chairman Melissa Wilson called the meeting to order at 7:02 p.m.

A quorum of the Commission was present: Melissa Wilson, Alderman John Chevalier, Mayor Damien Boley, Billy Muessig, Dennis Kathcart and Deb Dotson. Rob Scarborough was present via Zoom.

Staff present: Jack Hendrix and Brandi Schuerger.

2. MINUTES

The January 11, 2022, Regular Session Meeting Minutes were moved for approval by MAYOR BOLEY, Seconded by MUESSIG.

Ayes 6, Noes 0, Abstained 1 (WILSON). Motion carried.

3. STAFF REPORT

HENDRIX reported:

Informed the Commission that development is still progressing all over Smithville and is moving at an exceedingly fast pace. Currently items submitted to go before the Planning and Zoning Commission have a 6-week lead time and that it is becoming increasingly difficult to get things done by the time the meeting date gets here. This is partly due to the traffic reviews that must be done by us and MODOT. Several MODOT employees have retired recently and there are new employees, so the reviews are taking longer than they used to. You will see on tonight's agenda that we have had to request that several items be postponed due to MODOT not completing the traffic reviews. Due to this we will be slowing down the review timeline on our end to give MODOT more time to catch up.

We have issued 38 or 39 residential building permits so far this year. The medical marijuana facility should complete their construction sometime between May and July of this year. This will provide a huge benefit to the school districts finances.

ALDERMAN CHEVALIER asked for more clarification on why we need to slow down the review process for Planning and Zoning submittals.

HENDRIX stated that the city just cannot keep up and MODOT has slowed down on their review times as well. If we want to do it right, we need to be able to take enough time to review it. If we have several large projects submitted at the same time it requires a lot of work and time to coordinate reviews between 4 departments at the city and then MODOT's review. Our outside engineers are also doing reviews as well so trying to get all of this done in 6 weeks is becoming untenable.

4. PUBLIC HEARING: PLANNED DEVELOPMENT OVERLAY DISTRICT— MCBEE'S COFFEE & CARWASH—SMITHVILLE LIBRARY HEIGHTS TRACT A SE CORNER 169 HWY AND RICHARDSON

Public Hearing opened

HENDRIX stated that this Conceptual Plan Overlay consists of the applicant wanting to divide an existing lot which will shorten the frontage requirement and the lots will be small. This will require some Conceptual Plan allowable variances from what the basic zoning code actually allows. The purpose of a Conceptual Plan Overlay is to identify to the most maximum extent possible issues that are going to happen on a project. On this project with the traffic information which is what we are working on. The traffic information does not impact the actual Conceptual Plan. It addresses the items in the staff report which are: Is the development placed in a good spot, will it require a lot of extra grading or tearing up natural resources and does it meet the site plan requirements? In this case we have 2 lots but only one of them has a proposal on it. In order to be approved under the Conceptual Plan process they had to lay everything out and show the building design. One of the specific things that the Conceptual Plan allows is other certain variances associated with certain aspects of the code. The bulk requirements & setback requirements can change as long as the overall intent is met. In this particular plan one of the significant requests for a variance is to allow the amalgamation of 3 wall signs into various sizes that wouldn't ordinarily meet the standards. The other half of the project lies on the south side of the McBee's lot. We cannot say at this time what it will be, but we know who the current owner is, and they may decide to develop there but it is not a requirement. But when/if it develops there will be potential adjustments to that lot and all of that would have to come to the Planning and Zoning Commission for review. Staff recommends APPROVAL of the proposed Conceptual plan based upon adherence to the conditions contained in this report, and specifically includes the following recommended findings as contained in 400.200.B.4:

- 1. That the Commission has reviewed the conceptual development plan with consideration of the issues contained in Subsection (B)(3) above; and
- 2. That the conceptual development plan is in conformance with the comprehensive land use plan and other appropriate Sections of the Code of Ordinances; and
- 3. That the conceptual development plan provides for an organized and unified system of land use intensities which are compatible with the surrounding areas; and
- 4. That the proposed development adequately protects the health, safety and general welfare of future and existing residents and property owners in and around the development.

<u>Steve Potter---Midcontinent Public Library Director—</u>Stated that Kristen Stein is in attendance in person at the meeting as well. She is one of their Regional Managers for the library. He stated that he met with Mr. Hendrix and has gotten answers to all of the questions. The library is always interested in all things going on in our communities and wanted to keep apprised that all development that occurs is good for the library and good for the community and hopefully a win/win situation and that is what they are hoping for tonight.

Public Hearing closed

5. MCBEE'S COFFEE AND CARWASH PLANNED DEVELOPMENT OVERLAY DISTRIC—2 LOTS TO BE CREATED WITH SITE PLAN APPROVAL OF MCBEE'S COFFEE AND CARWASH BUILDING

MAYOR BOLEY motioned to approve the McBee's Coffee and Carwash Planned Development Overlay District—Two lots to be created with site plan

approval of McBee's Coffee and Carwash building. Seconded by ALDERMAN CHEVALIER.

DISCUSSION:

DOTSON asked Mr. Hendrix if he knew if a stop light will be needed at this intersection?

HENDRIX stated that this is the same intersection that is subject to a stop light with the Richardson Street Plaza project that was brought to the Commission 4-5 months ago. The intersection already meets 2 warrants. We are working on a scheduling process with MODOT to get both city contribution through developers and the city potentially. We have spoken with Mr. Potter with the Library about be a partial contributor. When the library was coming through back in 2009 with their application, they had a traffic study that said that the light should go in then. At that time MODOT used a different measuring standard and wanted it farther apart and eventually said they did not want a light there.

DOTSON also said that something caught her eye on the landscaping plan. She is really big on using native species in Missouri and noticed that they have burning bush in the plan. Burning bush is in Missouri Department of Conservations invasive species hit list. It would be nice if we could get them to commit to using Missouri native species.

HENDRIX stated that we can address this with them, but we do not have a provision in our code to require this. These folks have been extremely accommodating and a representative for them is here tonight so she will hear this and will be something they can consider addressing.

SCARBOROUGH asked who will ultimately be responsible for funding the stop light?

HENDRIX stated that it will be a combination of adjacent development, the city and MODOT.

SCARBOROUGH asked if it is a negotiation or are there set percentages they will pay?

HENDRIX stated that we have to reasonable with the numbers as far as developer contributions. There will be discussions with the existing library

area and the strip mall on the southeast corner of 169 Hwy and Richardson Street about possible contributions from them as well. The sooner this gets done the better the traffic flow in and out will be. We have percentages we are working on but will not know the final percentages until the end.

MUESSIG asked about the post office and all of the others on that street. How far back will you go?

HENDRIX stated that the city will talk to the first 2 or 3 businesses back on Richardson Street about contributing. These are the businesses that will have the most significant impact. I doubt we will hear anything back from the post office, but we can hope. This is a scenario where they will substantially benefit from having a traffic light. It is currently difficult getting in and out.

MUESSIG asked if McBee's has provided the hours they plan to be open? He feels that traffic could back up quite a bit.

HENDRIX stated no hours have been provided at this time. Possible traffic backups are part of the reason for such a long queuing space in the site design. This will likely be like when Donut Palace opened. Traffic was absolutely horrible at first but now there are no issues.

WILSON asked if traffic does become backed up on 169 Hwy how will that be addressed. Will it be a police issue?

HENDRIX stated that if it becomes an issue the police department usually educates people of the traffic back up on their Facebook page or if they need to be on location they will. For example, when there is a football game the police are all over that because they have to be.

KATHCART asked if there was any discussion of putting in a right turn lane going north?

HENDRIX stated that is part of the traffic information that we need to finalize. We just got our engineers comments back & MODOT may or may not provide comments on this. We have a meeting tentatively schedule later this week with Ashley of McBee's, her engineers and city staff to go over what we are looking for. The city's Public Works Director is a Missouri Engineer, and he will be involved in all of this as well. This will all be in the subdivision information that comes in May, assuming this all works out.

THE VOTE: DOTSON-AYE, MAYOR BOLEY-AYE, KATHCART-AYE, WILSON-AYE, SCARBOROUGH -AYE, ALDERMAN CHEVALIER-AYE, MUESSIG-AYE.

AYES-7, NOES-0. MOTION PASSED

6. PUBLIC HEARING: SINGLE PHASE FINAL PLAT MCBEE'S COFFEE & CARWASH (2 LOTS)-- ***TO BE POSTPONED***

MAYOR BOLEY motioned to postpone the Public Hearing for the Single-Phase Final Plat for McBee's Coffee & Carwash (2 Lots). Seconded by ALDERMAN CHEVALIER.

THE VOTE: ALDERMAN CHEVALIER -AYE, MUESSIG -AYE, SCARBOROUGH - AYE, DOTSON-AYE, WILSON -AYE, MAYOR BOLEY-AYE, KATHCART-AYE.

AYES-7, NOES-0. MOTION PASSED

7. MCBEE'S COFFEE AND CARWASH FINAL PLAT-- ***TO BE POSTPONED***

MAYOR BOLEY motioned to postpone McBee's Coffee and Carwash Final Plat. Seconded by MUESSIG.

THE VOTE: MAYOR BOLEY -AYE, KATHCART -AYE, DOTSON -AYE, SCARBOROUGH-AYE, WILSON -AYE, ALDERMAN CHEVALIER-AYE, MUESSIG-AYE.

AYES-7, NOES-0. MOTION PASSED

8. PUBLIC HEARING: REZONING B-3 AND A-1 TO PLANNED DEVELOPMENT OVERLAY DISTRICT WITH R-3 AND B-3 FOR FAIRVIEW CROSSING—NE CORNER OF 144TH AND 169 HWY

Public Hearing opened

HENDRIX stated that this another Conceptual Plan Overlay and has some significant differences than the previous one. On the map provided everything east of the powerline towards the residential areas is currently zoned B-3. The front half is currently zoned agricultural. This proposal would be to put a Conceptual Plan overlay over all of it and change the current B-3 zoning to R-3P and change the front from agricultural to B-3P to allow the commercial development. They have also identified the parking requirement codes and how they plan to comply with those. There are no tenants currently identified so there are no specific building designs that they have requested. This means that anytime a building comes in it will have to come before this commission for site plan approval first. This conceptual plan would allow a total of 13 lots to be created. 10 lots would be commercial and 3 would be multi-family. Lot 1 would be townhomes like Ashmont and Clay Creek. Lot 2 would be apartments. Lots 4-13 that run along the front are all commercial. They have identified anticipated tenants as a hotel on lot 5, and lots 10 and 11 likely fast food. The rest of the lots would be retail, restaurant or whatever the tenants' needs are. The commercial section has a proposed private drive for their access which is another significant reason to have a conceptual plan which allows them to have lots that do not front on a public road. One thing being discussed is the potential public street running through the middle, the exact location of it may change a bit. This is part of the traffic study. The developers traffic study had tons of traffic improvements on it. It has been sent to MODOT and we are now waiting on them. As a result of this we are asking for a postponement of items 10 & 11 on tonight's agenda. What you are approving tonight is mainly for the density, to make sure the parking is taken care of. We will also address the additional landscaping that has to occur. During that process they will get credit for leaving existing good trees in place. Especially along the northern portion of tract A and the eastern portion of tract A, B and C to keep that vegetation there and to keep that buffer between the existing single family. The staff report provided identifies the issues most significant issues and what that would mean for the development. There are also some sewer timing issues that would have to be worked out and we are finalizing this as well. There is no issue with water.

David Lanning---504 NE 192nd Terr. Smithville, MO 64089---Stated that he knows this is not anywhere close to where he lives but he has the Clay Creek townhomes just north of his house. He has 185' barrier between the homes but the riffraff is coming down into the single-family homes. We are getting trash and drugs coming down with these temporary housings. He does not see how this will help our city become any better than what it

is. We have a hard enough time getting workers to work at the Burger King and Taco Bell. What we currently have is short staffed, but we are going to bring in more fast-food restaurants. I am not seeing how any of this is going to help us.

Chrysi Mall---340 NE 144th St. Smithville, MO 64089---Stated that she lives a few lots behind this proposed development. She has more questions about this and stated that she is not ok with this development since she lives so close to it and after hearing what the previous gentleman had to say. Is there really a demand for this type of housing in the area? Is it really fulfilling a need that the city has? What type of housing is lot 3 going to be? We live on 144th St and it goes from pavement to gravel and believes there will be a lot of missed turns and 144th St is a dead-end street. How will that be mitigated as far as keeping the traffic on a gravel road to a minimum? Her other concerns are about storm sewers issues, will the road be paved, and curbs installed and there is a flood zone down there. She is concerned about the multi-family housing aspect of this. She already has kids walking in her backyard because they do not think anybody owns it so if it is more populate, she feels like that issue will get worse.

HENDRIX informed her that lot 3 will have apartments similar to lot 2.

Shane Crees---Applicant---13530 Mt. Olivet Rd. Smithville, MO 64089---Stated that prior to purchasing this property he went to the Planning and Development Department at the city to see what could and could not be done on this land. We sat down and went through the city's comprehensive plan to lay this out and meet the overall goal for the next 10 years for the city. There has been a lot of thought put into this and there are a lot of buffer areas for the existing neighbors and subdivisions. This is not something that will happen overnight. It is a long-term growth plan. It is something that would build out over the next 8-10 years. We tried looking at what the overall objective of the city was and that is what you are looking at today.

Public Hearing closed

9. FAIRVIEW CROSSING PLANNED DEVELOPMENT OVERLAY DISTRICT—3 MULTI-FAMILY LOTS & 10 COMMERCIAL LOTS AT THE NE CORNER OF 144TH AND 169 HWY

ALDERMAN CHEVALIER motioned to approve the Fairview Crossing Planned Development Overlay District—3 multi-family lots & 10 commercial lots at the NE corner of 144th & 169 Hwy. Seconded by DOTSON.

DISCUSSION:

DOTSON stated that during the Strategic Planning process this area of town was identified as a multi-family, work, play, shop concept and a lot of people were very much on board with that. She thinks that there are a lot of people that would like to live here and have been asking for more places to live. Single family homes have become so expensive that it is almost impossible so to have a place for them to come to would benefit the city overall. She does understand that there has been issues with drugs and kids and things like that and has that in her own neighborhood. She imagines that we will have to step up the police department to take care of these issues. This type of development in the long run will help the city and the school district because of the taxes coming from this. Roof tops makes for better schools and amenities. If you want more amenities or better improvements in the city there has to be a little bit of, give and take.

KATHCART also stated that during the Strategic Planning process one of the things identified was that we had trouble keeping teachers, fire fighters and police officers here because they cannot live here. They cannot afford a \$350,000 house which is about where we are starting now. So those people are having to go to school districts, fire stations and police stations where they can afford to live. There is a constant turn over in these professions. Look at the want ads for the school itself right now. There are multiple reasons for this but one of the biggest reason is we do not have a place for them to live.

MAYOR BOLEY stated that someone brought up not being able to get workers but kids living in half a million-dollar homes are not jumping to work at Burger King. Also, Lake Meadows subdivision has a lot of rentals, so the crime is not just coming into Lake Meadows from the townhomes or Diamond Crest or anywhere else. There are people who rent there too. He stated that he also lives in an apartment and takes offense to anyone implying that anyone who lives in apartments is riffraff. We have some pretty nice apartments here. We need this and we need workers. We have a 100-billion-dollar development going in on the south end of town that will bring in 1000 workers making prevailing wage that will need a place to live. They will be making anywhere from \$50 to \$100 an hour and he does not

consider that riffraff. They need a place to eat and sleep and he would rather they spend their tax dollars here than Lee's Summit or somewhere else they are going to drive from. He said it is a great development and we should move forward.

HENDRIX stated that he would like to clarify some things for Mrs. Mall. She had expressed concern about traffic, sewer and all of that. Those items will be subject to the items that will be postponed tonight. Those are subdivision issues and will come back before the Commission at another meeting and she will have a right to come back and speak about those issues at another time. Also, if this goes through lots 1,2 & 3 will have to come back to Planning and Zoning for the site plan process review. They are currently looking at a maximum of 249 total units at full build out at \$625 per unit in parkland fees, which will generate a significant amount of income for purposes of improving the park amenities in this general vicinity and the city as a whole. These items will be accounted for in the future when they submit their proposal. As it relates to stormwater, if you look at the plat provided, tracts B and C are specific detention basins planned for this area. They have submitted a full stormwater study for the drainage area.

WILSON asked how many stories a building has to be before the Fire Department will have to invest in ladder trucks.

HENDRIX stated that our Fire District currently wants to limit it to 4 stories. Anything over that they will have to look into these types of things. Keep in mind that the Fire District will get sales and property taxes from this and that will help generate additional funding for them. The apartments in this development are identified to be 2 stories but that does not mean they cannot be adjusted to 3 stories. The current scenario in the comprehensive plan is that on the far south end of town they could be a tall as 6 stories but where this project is they are not intended to be that tall.

THE VOTE: DOTSON -AYE, MAYOR BOLEY -AYE, KATHCART -AYE, WILSON-AYE, SCARBOROUGH -AYE, ALDERMAN CHEVALIER -AYE, MUESSIG-AYE.

AYES-7, NOES-0. MOTION PASSED

10. PUBLIC HEARING: MAJOR SUBDIVISION—FAIRVIEW CROSSING TO CREATE 13 LOTS-- ***TO BE POSTPONED***

11. FAIRVIEW CROSSING PRELIMINARY PLAT (13 LOTS)--***TO BE POSTPONED***

MAYOR BOLEY motioned to postpone items 10 & 11 on the agenda. Seconded by KATHCART.

THE VOTE: MAYOR BOLEY -AYE, KATHCART -AYE, DOTSON -AYE, SCARBOROUGH -AYE, WILSON-AYE, ALDERMAN CHEVALIER -AYE, MUESSIG-AYE.

AYES-7, NOES-0. MOTION PASSED

12. ADJOURN

MAYOR BOLEY made a motion to adjourn. ALDERMAN CHEVALIER seconded the motion.

VOICE VOTE: UNANIMOUS

WILSON declared the session adjourned at 7:56 p.m.